

**INDEX to the Constitution and Bylaws
of the
New Brunswick Branch
of the
United Empire Loyalists' Association of Canada**

ARTICLE	PAGE	CONTENT
1	2	Version Date
2	2	Organization Name
3	3	Authority to Enact Bylaws/ Constitution
4	3	Purpose of Bylaws
5	4	Membership
6	4	Fee Structure
7	5	Meetings
8	6	Officers and Executive
9	7	Committees
10	8	Election of Officers
11	9	Tenure of Officers
12	9	Duties of Officers/ Committee Chairs
13	12	Association Authority
14	12	Amending Bylaws/ Constitution

CONTENT	ARTICLE	PAGE
Amending Bylaws	14	12
Association Authority	13	12
Authority to Enact Bylaws	3	3
Committees	9	7
Duties of Officers/ Committees	12	9
Election of Officers	10	8
Fee Structure	6	4
Membership	5	4
Meetings	7	5
Officers and Executive	8	6
Organization Name	2	2
Purpose of Bylaws	4	3
Tenure of Officers	11	9
Version Date		

CONSTITUTION AND BY-LAWS OF THE
NEW BRUNSWICK BRANCH
OF THE
UNITED EMPIRE LOYALISTS' ASSOCIATION
OF CANADA

NEW BRUNSWICK BRANCH
THE UNITED EMPIRE LOYALISTS' ASSOCIATION OF CANADA

CONSTITUTION AND BY-LAWS

ARTICLE 1 - EFFECTIVE DATE

- All previous Constitutions, By-laws, Terms of Reference and other documents respecting the governance of the New Brunswick Branch are hereby cancelled and revoked and replaced by this Constitution and By-laws, which shall take effect on the day and date set out below.
- This version approved January 29, 2026.

ARTICLE 2 - NAME

- The name of this branch shall be the NEW BRUNSWICK BRANCH, THE UNITED EMPIRE LOYALISTS' ASSOCIATION OF CANADA, hereinafter called the "Branch".

- The United Empire Loyalists' Association of Canada shall hereinafter be referred to as the "Association".
- United Empire Loyalists shall hereinafter be referred to as "Loyalists".

ARTICLE 3 - AUTHORITY TO ENACT BY-LAWS

- The Branch may make by-laws for the guidance of its officers and members, the control and management of its funds and generally for regulating every matter and thing proper or necessary to be done for the good of the Branch and promotion of its purposes.
- Such by-laws shall be consistent with by-laws and policies of the United Empire Loyalists' Association of Canada.

ARTICLE 4 - PURPOSE

- In keeping with the mission statement of the Association, but within the scope of the Branch, the purposes of the Branch are to preserve, promote and celebrate the history and traditions of the Loyalist epoch in New Brunswick history by:
 - Uniting in a New Brunswick association the descendants of those families who, during the American Revolutionary War, sacrificed all to retain their loyalty to the British crown.
 - Collecting and cataloguing portraits, documents, books, weapons, flags, clothing and other artefacts relating to the Loyalists.
 - Publishing an historical and family research journal, books and newsletters as well as educational resource materials and encouraging scholarship and publication about Loyalist history and demography. Particular attention shall be given to the teaching of Loyalist history in New Brunswick elementary schools.
 - Erecting, constructing and repairing buildings, monuments and memorials in New Brunswick to perpetuate the memory of the Loyalists.
 - Increasing public awareness of the Loyalists' contributions to New Brunswick and preserving, defending, and promoting Loyalist heritage within New Brunswick society, by developing and participating in projects and activities which honour and celebrate the memory of the Loyalists.
 - Defending and promoting the values and institutions fundamental to New Brunswick's Loyalist heritage and, in particular, the Constitutional Monarchy,

the Commonwealth, Parliamentary Government, the Rule of Law, Human Rights and Unity.

ARTICLE 5 - MEMBERSHIP

- There shall be four types of membership:

Individual, Family, Student, and Institutional as described in UELAC policy P2017.00x Membership.

Additionally, an honorary designation may be applied by the Branch to an individual membership.

The Branch may also designate an Additional Individual Membership in the Branch to a person who has a primary membership in another UELAC Branch.

- These types of members are further described and defined by the by-laws of the Association.
- Eligibility for membership shall be in accordance with the by-laws of the Association.
- Application for membership shall be in accordance with the regulations of the National Council of the Association.
- A Member in good standing shall uphold the purposes of the Branch and its Constitution and shall have paid all applicable current fees and dues.
- Right to Vote and to Hold Office – All branch members holding individual or family membership are eligible to vote in branch elections and to hold any office in the branch provided they are 19 years old when voting or elected. They are also eligible to be elected to office at the Association level. Student members are eligible to hold non-elected positions within the branch.
- Members are encouraged to make an active contribution to the Branch by regular attendance (as distance permits), by willingness to accept nomination or appointment to office (as distance permits) and by willingness to participate in Branch projects.

ARTICLE 6 - FEES

- The fiscal year of the Branch shall be June 1 to May 31 in the subsequent year.

Annual membership fees may be paid online at the National UELAC website or by personal cheque to the New Brunswick Branch membership chair. Both types of

payment should be made between November 1 and December 31 for membership in the following year. Online payment is encouraged.

Individual Membership shall be in the name of an individual. Family Membership shall be in the name of the principal family member and may include any family members residing at the same address.

- The annual membership fees for each class of membership shall be as agreed by the Branch Executive in accordance with the following procedure:
- A motion to alter fees must be made by the Treasurer at a Branch meeting. Passing the motion requires a yes vote from 2/3 of those attending.
- The annual membership fees shall be payable in either Canadian or US dollars with the Canadian dollar and the US dollar being arbitrarily treated as equal in value.
- The names of lapsed members, i.e., those members who have not paid membership dues for the current year, shall be kept on the membership role for a period of two years. During that time, they shall receive all notices sent by the Branch but shall not receive the Branch newsletter nor any publications or notices sent by the Association.

ARTICLE 7 - MEETINGS

The Branch should have a minimum of two Regular Meetings each year, in addition to the Annual General Meeting (AGM). Ideally the AGM should be in March/ April and the other 2 meeting spaced throughout the year.

All meetings must be accessible to membership by online attendance by ZOOM (or another equivalent digital format). Meetings may also have a face-to-face component; but this is not a requirement.

Written notification or Notice in Writing, for the purpose of the By-Laws, shall be by e-mail or by postal mail only if e-mail is unavailable.

- A Special Meeting may be called at any time upon request by a quorum of members of the Executive Committee or upon request by a quorum of Branch members.

The branch should attempt to hold and support both Loyalist Day (May 18th) and Christmas season events as circumstances permit.

- The Executive Committee will meet prior to each Regular Meeting and prior to the Annual General Meeting. The President may call additional meetings of the Executive as required.

- Notice of all Regular, Annual General and Special meetings will be given by e-mail, telephone or Canada Post at least two weeks in advance of the meeting date.
- Notice of all Executive Committee meetings will be given by e-mail or telephone at least one week in advance of the meeting date.
- A quorum for a Regular Meeting shall be ten voting members.
- A quorum for the Annual General Meeting or a Special Meeting shall be fifteen voting members.
- A quorum of the Executive Committee shall be four executives, three of whom shall be part of the following group: President, Vice-President, Past-President, Secretary, and Treasurer. A quorum of other committees shall be a majority of members.
- A simple majority will be more than half of the voting members present at a regular constituted meeting with a quorum present. A two-thirds majority will be more than two-thirds of the voting members at such a meeting.
- In election of officers, voting will be registered by ballot for those in face-to-face meeting as described in Article 10 – Election of Officers, and by secret voting within ZOOM for those attending online. Voting on other matters will be by a show of hands. Those for and against a motion will be asked in turn to raise their right hands. The hands will be counted, the result announced, and the motion declared either carried or lost.
- All meetings will be conducted according to Bourinot's Rules of Order, 4th Edition.

ARTICLE 8 - OFFICERS AND EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

- The officers of the branch, who will form the Executive Committee, hereinafter called the "Executive", shall be:
 - President
 - Vice-president
 - Past President
 - Secretary
 - Treasurer
 - Genealogist
 - Directors (up to four)

- The Executive may fill a vacancy on the Executive Committee, subject to ratification at the next Regular Meeting, for the remainder of the term of that office.
- The Signing Officers shall be the President, Vice President, Treasurer and Secretary and any other person designated and authorized by the Executive. Cheques must be signed by not fewer than two Signing Officers.
- The Executive shall be empowered to spend up to \$500 of Branch funds in support of routine Branch business.
- No expenditure, other than routine non-recurring expenses that do not lead to further commitment, shall be made by the Executive unless the matter has been put to a vote at a Branch meeting and approved by a majority vote.
- The Treasurer, or designate, may at their sole discretion, e-transfer funds from the branch RBC account to the National UELAC account for the purpose of reconciling dues payments and paying National its owed share of other fees paid directly to the Branch. Any other e-transfer of Branch funds requires the approval of a majority of the Executive (except as authorized in the specific duties of the Treasurer under Article 12)
- Online access to the Branch RBC account shall be limited to the President, Vice-President, and Treasurer – who must be in possession of the account passwords. It is required that the password be changed with election of any new officers who have access.
- The RBC banking card and associated password should be in the possession of the Treasurer. The password associated with the card should be recorded in the books of the Branch.
- The Executive will approve financial institutions used by the Branch for savings and investments.
- Committee Chairpersons are welcome to attend Executive Committee meetings and at times will be requested to attend. At these meetings they will have voice but no vote.

ARTICLE 9 - COMMITTEES

- The Executive may establish and terminate committees as required for the smooth operation of the Branch.
The Branch Executive may form, at its discretion, any committees desired to aid the activities and functions of the Branch. The Branch SHALL form a Financial Committee, whose mandate is to monitor and manage the financial activity, including investments, of the Branch. The Financial Committee's chair shall be the Treasurer of the Branch and membership must include the President. Other committee membership may be appointed by the Executive.
- The Executive Committee shall appoint Committee Chairpersons except in the case of the Investment Committee, which shall be chaired by the Treasurer.

- Committee Chairpersons may appoint their committee members except in the case of the Investment Committee, whose members shall be appointed by the Executive.

ARTICLE 10 - ELECTION OF OFFICERS

- The Officers of the Branch shall be elected at the Annual General Meeting (AGM) and will hold office until the end of the next AGM. At the conclusion of the AGM the newly elected President will be installed with a brief ceremony and then will immediately close the meeting.
- A Nominating Committee composed of three members in good standing shall be appointed by the Executive Committee for the purpose of submitting to the Branch, at the Annual General Meeting, a list of nominees for the various offices. Further nominations may be made at the AGM by any voting member in good standing.
- When only one member is nominated for an office, the President shall declare that member elected by acclamation. When more than one nomination has been received, the President shall cause an election to be held.
- The election can be by ballot for those in attendance face-to-face. The President shall appoint two scrutineers, who shall ensure that only those members with a vote and in good standing cast a ballot, and that no member casts more than one ballot in any one vote. The scrutineers at the close of the poll shall count the ballots, and report to the President the number of votes for each candidate. Face-to-face attendees may also elect to vote online via the Zoom vote function.
- Those attending online, and eligible to vote, will utilize the ZOOM vote function (or equivalent platform).
- When one candidate for office has received a majority of the votes cast for that office, the President shall declare that candidate elected.
- Should there be more than two candidates for one office, and the vote gives none of the candidates a clear majority, the President shall strike out the name of the candidate receiving the smallest number of votes and shall direct that another vote be taken. If the second vote still fails to give any candidate a clear majority, the President shall again strike out the name of the candidate receiving the smallest number of votes, and direct that a third vote be taken, and so on until one candidate shall have received a clear majority of the votes cast.
- Upon assuming any elected position, each member shall acknowledge the following obligation: "I pledge that I shall properly attend to the duties devolving upon me and that at the end of my term of office I shall promptly deliver back to the New Brunswick Branch, or to my successor in office, all books, papers, electronic data, funds or other property in my possession belonging to the New Brunswick Branch. I

further pledge that I shall retain as confidential all matters that may be privy to the Branch, and not disseminate such information by any means."

ARTICLE 11 - TENURE OF OFFICERS

- The ideal tenure for the offices of President and Vice President is two years with a maximum of four years.

ARTICLE 12 - DUTIES OF OFFICERS AND COMMITTEE CHAIRPERSONS

- The President shall:
 - Preside at all meetings of the Branch and Executive Committee.
 - Be an ex officio member of all committees.
 - Uphold the Constitution and By-laws of the Branch and the Association and monitor the duties of the Branch Officers.
- The Vice-president shall:
 - Assist the President wherever possible.
 - Stand in for the President in the event of his/her absence at meetings, National Council and other events.
 - Act as greeter at Branch meetings.
 - Perform other duties assigned by the Executive.
 - Be willing and prepared to accept the nomination as the succeeding President.
- The Past President shall:
 - Serve as a member of the Executive Committee with voice and vote.
 - Assist and advise the President and perform such duties as may be requested by the President.
 - Perform all of the duties of the Vice-president in the absence of the Vice-president, including all of the duties of the President in his or her absence.
- The Secretary shall:

- Keep minutes of the Branch and Executive meetings and ensure that the President and Secretary sign them.
- Notify members appointed to committees.
- Conduct correspondence of the Branch.
- Send, or arrange to be sent, notices of meetings to all members.
- The Treasurer shall:
 - Collect and receive all monies due or owing to the Branch and deposit them in an account or accounts, in the name of the Branch, in a chartered bank or another financial institution, such as a Credit Union or Trust Company, so long as it is a member of the Canada Deposit Insurance Corporation, and using instruments that are protected by deposit insurance from the Canada Deposit Insurance Corporation.
 - Inform the membership chair of all membership dues received.
 - Petty cash accounts for routine Branch business, not to exceed \$100, may be granted at the discretion of the Treasurer.
 - Keep books of accounts showing receipts and disbursements, from which the balance may be found readily, and shall keep books and vouchers ready at all times for the inspection of the Executive or an Auditor or Auditors.
 - Present for approval a statement of account balances and membership at each Executive and each Regular meeting.
 - Present for approval at the AGM a written provisional financial report, including a provisional financial statement, for the current fiscal year.
 - Make available to the Auditor, if one is employed, all financial records for the annual audit within 60 days from the end of the fiscal year. The audited financial report, if produced will be presented to the Branch members for approval at the first Regular Meeting thereafter but no later than the Annual General Meeting. Copies of the audited financial report will be given to the members attending that meeting and to any other member that may request a copy.

Act as chairman of the Financial Committee and, in that role, invest the surplus funds of the Branch as agreed by the Committee. The Financial Committee will operate within investment guidelines as may be established by the Executive from time to time.

- The Genealogist shall:
 - Receive Certificate Applications, review them to determine whether they meet the established standard and, if appropriate, forward them, along with the required fee, with recommendation for approval to the Genealogist of the Association.
 - Maintain files of the completed applications of regular and affiliate members.
 - Assist those who would research their Loyalist ancestry to reconstruct their family histories and apply for Regular Membership.
- The Membership Chair shall
 - Maintain the Roll of Members.
 - Encourage interested persons to join the branch.
 - Encourage persons who have become members, especially new Regular Members, to take an active part in the activities of the Branch.
 - Provide new members with a copy of the Branch Constitution and By-laws.
 - Provide all members with name tags.
 - Work closely and in conjunction with the Branch Genealogist.
- The Sales Chair shall:
 - Maintain an inventory of all items such as books, flags, pins, etc. that the Branch offers for sale.
 - Set up a sales table at all Branch functions.
 - Arrange the delivery of sold items.
 - Submit all monies received to the Treasurer along with details of all purchases and sales.
- The Directors shall:
 - Assume special duties as assigned by the Executive Committee.

ARTICLE 13 - ASSOCIATION AUTHORITY

- a) In respect of procedures, order of business, rules of order, and in all other matters not specifically dealt with herein, the Constitution and By-laws of the Association will govern.

ARTICLE 14 - AMENDMENT TO CONSTITUTION & BY-LAWS

- a) The Executive or any Branch member may propose an amendment or amendments to the Branch Constitution & By-laws. Notice of Motion to amend the Constitution & By-laws of the Branch shall be given in writing to the Secretary and shall set forth the proposed amendment or amendments. The Secretary shall send to each Member of the Branch, in writing, a copy of the Notice of Motion along with the notice of the immediate next Regular meeting at which it shall be read. The motion must be presented by the person wishing to amend the Constitution & By-laws and it must be seconded. The vote on the Motion shall occur at the subsequent Regular meeting. The vote shall not occur at the meeting at which the Motion was initially read. The motion shall be debated and voted on.
A simple majority vote will determine if it is accepted.

Signed by the President of the Branch and the Recording Secretary of the Branch on the 29th of January, 2026

President: Stephen Bolton

Secretary: Cathy Sterling